FILED
Jan 21, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. $\frac{Q_1}{2}$ $\frac{Q_1}{2}$ $\frac{Q_1}{2}$ (Court of Appeals No. 70291-2-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT HITT,

Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FEB 1 0 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
RE

MICK WOYNAROWSKI Attorney for Petitioner WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. On appeal, the State acknowledges the obvious: the jurors deciding Mr. Hitt's case should have never learned that the petitioner raped JSN at knifepoint because there is no valid ER 404(b) exception upon which to admit this damning testimony. Character evidence is never admissible to prove action in conformity therewith, but here, the prosecution literally argued that Mr. Hitt must be guilty as charged because the past rape evidence showed that violence towards women makes him "tick." To make matters worse, the jurors were explicitly permitted to use the prior rape evidence to decide if the State proved motive or intent, without limitation as to any specific count.

For decades, this Court has consistently emphasized that nothing turns jurors against an accused like prior sex offense evidence. Should this Court grant review, order a new trial on all counts, and thus bring this matter in line with *Gower*, *Gresham*, and *Saltarelli*?

2. As charged, the State had to prove that in restraining the six housemates Mr. Hitt had the specific intent to use each woman as a shield or hostage, or to further robbery. There was no evidence of use as a hostage or shield for five of the counts and the general verdict does not assure the jury did not return a verdict based on this alternative means. In accord with *Garcia*, should the Court grant review and reverse?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2002, petitioner Robert Hitt pleaded guilty to rape in the first degree. CP 69-75. At knifepoint, he had orally raped a young woman, JSN, who delivered food to his home. He was sentenced to a ten year prison term and released onto DOC supervision in early 2012. CP 96.

Less than three months into his community supervision, Mr. Hitt relapsed into substance use. He spent the evening of March 4, 2012 drinking. Pretrial Exhibit 4 at 4:40-5:05, 5:28-51; Pretrial Exhibit 6, p.7-8. When he left the bar in the early morning, he was offered methamphetamine and he accepted. RP 431-32, 900.³

Impaired and in need of cab fare to return home, Mr. Hitt walked around, approaching a darkened home on 20th Ave. NE. RP 898, 900. He knocked on the front door repeatedly but no one answered. RP 604-05, 1102-03. Thinking no one was inside, Mr. Hitt threw a rock through a side window and entered. Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 21:09-15.

As it turned out, eight young women lived in the residence and were sleeping when Mr. Hitt came inside. *E.g.*, RP 393-94. He panicked and a highly disorganized series of events ensued. *E.g.*, Exhibit 103

³ The consecutively-paginated volumes of the trial verbatim report of proceedings are referred to as "RP." The remaining volumes, including the transcripts of voir dire, are referred to by the first date transcribed, for example "3/13/13 RP."

(#6636) at 25:05-40; RP 579-81, 727, 853 (Hitt acted erratically and did not seem to have planned what he was doing).

Mr. Hitt went upstairs and E.H. opened her bedroom door. RP 493-97. He panicked and ran into her open doorway. RP 497-98. While he paced, E.H. asked him what he was doing. RP 499, 501. Mr. Hitt told E.H. he was going to rob her and asked who else was in the house. RP 500. When E.H. told him there were seven others, Mr. Hitt wrapped her wrists together with electrical tape and they went to E.C.'s room. RP 500-01. Mr. Hitt did not see E.C.; he put a small knife to E.H.'s neck and led her around the house to collect the other roommates. RP 506-15. At the other rooms, E.H. told her roommates they were being robbed and to come out and/or Mr. Hitt told the women to come out of their rooms or he would hurt E.H. RP 508-15.

He gathered the six women in K.B.'s upstairs bedroom and had them lay face down on the ground; he took two of the women's cell phones so they could not call the police. RP 514-15, 522-537. He wrapped their hands behind their back with the remaining electrical tape, including those of E.H. who had undone her initial wrapping. RP 537-42. When Mr. Hitt ran out of electrical tape, he asked the women for more. RP 553-54. K.B. pointed him to a roll of duct tape in her drawer. RP 556.

When he went to tape K.B.'s hands, her bulky, fleece top frustrated him and he told her to remove it, which she did at least to her waist, and Mr. Hitt finished taping her hands while she lay face down on the floor like the others. RP 561-66, 594-96, 652-53, 860-61, 942, 1039-40, 1119-20, 1129-31.⁴ Two roommates were overlooked in their rooms and were able to call the police. RP 399-404. The police came in soon after Mr. Hitt completed binding K.B. RP 423-28. He came out of the room and cooperated. RP 423-28.

Mr. Hitt told the police that he had made a mistake, only wanted to get cab and beer money, never intended to hurt anyone, and had no idea that anyone was inside when he entered. RP 432.⁵

The State charged Mr. Hitt with one count of first degree burglary, six counts of first degree kidnapping premised on intent to hold as a hostage or shield and to facilitate robbery (for each woman taken into K.B.'s bedroom), and two counts of first degree robbery (for each of the cell phones). CP 1-7. The State added a special allegation of sexual motivation to the burglary charge and to the kidnapping charge pertaining

⁴ Mr. Hitt apparently thought it was just a sweater, but it turned out to be a one piece pajama outfit and she had no other clothes underneath. RP 561-62, 564-66, 671, 966-67.

⁵ The State agrees that "there is no evidence that when the defendant broke into the University area home, he knew that anybody was home, let alone that he knew the sex or age of the person or persons who lived there." State Response at 24.

to K.B. *Id*. The State further charged that each of the counts was committed while armed with a deadly weapon, the knife. *Id*.

Before trial, the State moved to admit evidence of Mr. Hitt's prior rape conviction to support its current claim of sexual motivation. CP 14-30, 49-60, 199, 422-25; RP 236-64, 276-306, 389-91. Referring to Mr. Hitt's statements that he wanted to rob, the prosecution argued they badly needed to use the prior crime in their case-in-chief: "[W]e are here to have a fair trial for both sides. And having the State try this case with one hand tied behind its back because the jury won't hear this very probative evidence to rebut Mr. Hitt's assertion." RP 282.

There was little to no evidence the State could point to as suggestive of sexual motivation. While securing the women's wrists, K.B.'s bulky "onesie," which got in the way of Mr. Hitt's attempt to tape her wrists, was pulled down. RP 594-96, 838-40, 971. K.B. had nothing underneath; she was facing away from Mr. Hitt when this happened and he immediately told her to return face down on the floor. RP 596-97, 860-61. He did not treat K.B. any differently than the other women. RP 975-76. Mr. Hitt touched another housemate, E.H., on her backside after ordering her to move up the stairs. RP 535-36. He did not remove anyone else's clothing, make any sexual advances, say anything sexualized, act interested in the women, or do anything else overtly sexual. RP 578, 581,

591-92, 596-97, 669-76, 675, 729-30. He told the women he was only there to rob them. RP 582-83.

The State won its motion and all nine convictions, including the sexual motivation special allegations. CP 249-66, 409-21, 426. Counts I and III counted as Mr. Hitt's second strike for a sex offense and he was sentenced to life imprisonment. CP 413.

On appeal, the State conceded that there were insufficient similarities between the prior and the instant offenses: "many of the identified facts are innocuous, not acts of the defendant, or while they are facts common to both cases, they are not facts suggestive of an actual plan to commit the crime of rape." State Response at 22-23. The Court of Appeals agreed. Opinion at 4-7. The Court of Appeals also accepted the State's proposal that the only remedy Mr. Hitt is entitled to is a remand for resentencing, where the sexual motivation aggravators would be stricken, but that the other verdicts are to stand. Opinion at 16.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCCEPTED

- 1. Fundamental due process requires the petitioner be given a trial where jurors are not prejudiced against him by the testimony of a prior victim and where the State does not argue he is "sexually motivated by violence towards women."
- a) The State properly conceded its argument in the trial court was erroneous and the propensity evidence should have not been admitted.

While the State concedes error on appeal, the prosecution went to great lengths to convince the trial judge to depart from the general prohibition against the use of prior bad act evidence and admit the prior rape under the "common scheme or plan" exception. The prosecution emphasized that "similarities here are striking; and it's those similarities that make it so probative." RP 284.

The prosecution called JSN as a witness. RP 1165, 1180-1208. The prosecution had JSN describe, in detail, exactly what Mr. Hitt forced her to do. The prosecution asked: "Was the knife actually touching your skin?" RP 1186. The prosecution had JSN demonstrate: "And where, on your throat, was it? Can you show the jury?" RP 1186. JSN told the jurors that she was crying when Mr. Hitt put his penis in her mouth. RP 1190, 1193. She told the jurors that he kept the knife at her throat during the rape. RP 1193. She told the jurors that he ejaculated. RP 1194. The State rested its case. RP 1229.

Before JSN's testimony, the court had given an oral instruction that limited the jury's use of this evidence to determining whether the State had proven the sexual motivation allegation in counts I and III and not for any other purpose. RP 1180. However, the final written jury instruction regarding JSN's testimony told the jurors they could consider

the prior rape for: "the purpose of deciding whether the defendant's prior conduct is part of a common scheme or plan, or as evidence of the defendant's motive or intent with respect to conduct charged by the State in this case." CP 199. (Emphasis added.)

The prosecution requested this change in response to the trial court ruling that the defense was entitled to a voluntary intoxication instruction. RP 1257. The State wanted to use the prior rape – during which JSN believed Mr. Hitt had been drinking alcohol – as evidence that he formed the requisite intent in all of the crimes they charged against him. RP 1257. The trial court agreed to this expansion on how the prior would be used without conducting any new ER 404(b) analysis. Mr. Hitt objected to the instruction as well as the admission of the evidence on the whole. RP 1256, 1258-59, 1271.

In closing argument, the prosecutor talked about the "nightmare that [Mr. Hitt] created," and said "that this is something that they continue to live with, that continues to affect them." RP 1276-77. (Defense objection overruled.) The prosecution told the jury that Mr. Hitt's acts of violence toward "the young women" (plural form in the original) demonstrated a sexual desire. RP 1290. The prosecution explained that just because there was no "groping... touching... ogling [or] kissing," did not mean that Mr. Hitt's behavior during the incident was not sexually

motivated: "That's not how he necessarily got his sexual gratification." RP 1290. (Defense objection overruled.)

The prosecution emphasized that what Mr. Hitt did to JSN proved that his <u>violent</u> acts committed against the housemates were sexually motivated: "[W]hat you know from [JSN's] testimony is that <u>the</u> <u>defendant is sexually motivated by violence towards women</u>, by using a knife, by dominating them, by stripping them naked, by having that power and control over women." RP 1291. (Emphasis added.)

The prosecution compared JSN's experience with those of all of the housemates: "[J]ust as he had held [JSN] at knife point, he held [EH] at knife point... He used a knife, not just a knife, but a serrated knife in both incidents. He threatened those women in the same exact manner." RP 1292. (plural form in the original)

Defense argument focused on Mr. Hitt's intoxication and lack of conclusive proof regarding intent. RP 1297-98, 1301-1304, 1313. But, on rebuttal, the prosecution returned to the rape of JSN: "[t]he defendant has shown that intoxication does not interfere with his ability to form intent when it comes to satisfying his own sexual purposes." RP 1321. The prosecution again characterized the petitioner as a sadist: "[Y]ou know from his rape of [JSN] that there is something about what makes him tick, that that's dominating of women, and gratifies him sexually." RP 1323.

Propensity evidence has no place in a criminal trial. "ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 7 (2012). It is designed to prevent the State from suggesting once a criminal, always a criminal, or once a rapist, always a rapist. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 859, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

Evidence of a prior crime carries an <u>extraordinary</u> risk of undue prejudice. *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 180-84, 191-92, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997); *State v. Oster*, 147 Wn.2d 141, 147-48, 52 P.3d 26 (2002); *State v. Brown*, 113 Wn.2d 520, 529-30, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989). The admission of a prior conviction cast Mr. Hitt in an even less favorable light than if the evidence had merely related to a prior act. *State v. Halstein*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 126-27, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

Mr. Hitt objected to the admission of the prior act, a rape against an entirely independent victim from over a decade before the current charges. *E.g.*, CP 14-30 (motion in limine); *see* RP 238-57, 285-90, 1271-72. The State argued it was relevant to the alleged sexual motivation special verdict. *E.g.*, CP 49-60; RP 258-64, 276-82.

⁶ To prove the special allegation of sexual motivation, the State must set forth

[&]quot;identifiable conduct by the defendant while committing the offense which proves

The State concedes it was wrong to make its argument to the trial court in the first place. The Court of Appeals correctly accepted the State's concession on appeal and ruling that the prior rape evidence was inadmissible. Indeed, the State never met its "substantial burden" to show admission of a prior offense for a purpose other than propensity. *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 18-19, 74 P.3d 119 (2003)Similarly, the trial court should have never expanded – again at the State's request – the use of the prior rape evidence to include motive or intent.⁷

b) The Court of Appeals underestimates the impact of the prior victim's terrifying testimony.

An erroneous ruling requires reversal if it is reasonably probable that the error affected the outcome. *State v. Gower*, 179 Wn.2d 851, 857, 321 P.3d 1178 (2014). This analysis "does not turn on whether there is sufficient evidence to convict without the inadmissible evidence." *Id.*; *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 434, 269 P.3d 207 (2012) (Erroneous admission of prior sex conviction prejudicial even though evidence otherwise sufficient to sustain conviction.)

beyond a reasonable doubt the offense was committed for the purpose of sexual gratification." *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 120, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

⁷ Compare CP 422-25 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law); RP 236-38 (material before the court), 292-306 (oral ruling), 389-91 (affirming ruling on Hitt's request to reconsider) with CP 199 (jury instruction "limits" consideration to common scheme or plan, or motive or intent); RP 1180 (before Sewell's testimony, court informs jury it may only be considered for determining whether State met burden on motive); RP 1238, 1254-60 (argument on limiting instruction).

Review should be granted, in part to correct the Court of Appeals untenable minimization of the prejudicial impact of the prior rape testimony. The State's proof of the special sexual motivation allegations hinged upon admission of Mr. Hitt's prior rape conviction. The trial court explicitly recognized the weakness of the State's other evidence. RP 243-44. Generally speaking, prior acts evidence is highly probative if there is "very little proof" the charged crime occurred. *State v. Sexsmith*, 138 Wn. App. 497, 506, 157 P3.d 901 (2007). Because the focus of the State's sexual motivation case was on Mr. Hitt's prior conviction for a different crime against a different victim, it is reasonably probable that the evidence was harmful and affected the verdict. *See State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 831, 282 P.3d 126 (2012).

"The potential for prejudice from admitting prior acts is "at its highest" in sex offense cases. *Gower*, 179 Wn.2d at 857, *citing Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405 *and quoting State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). Just one year ago, in *Gower*, this Court reversed for a new trial where a trial court erred in admitting, in a bench trial, evidence the accused had committed other sex offenses different from those he was charged with. The *Gower* court was "satisfied" that there was a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different without the inadmissible evidence.

In its analysis, the *Gower* Court first noted the fact that the trial judge, in a pretrial motion noted that the evidence was "necessary" to the State's case. *Id.* at 857. Next, the *Gower* Court pointed out the State's inconsistent approach to the evidence pretrial – where the prosecution argued "this is necessary evidence" – but tried on appeal to say something different. *Id.*, *citing to State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 498, 14 P.3d 713 (2000) (characterizing as "[r]emarkabl[e]" the State's decision to take "opposite position[s]" on one factual matter in two separate but related appeals.

In Mr. Hitt's case, the prosecution attempts the same disingenuous maneuver. Here, when asking the trial court to admit the evidence, the State said that it could not live without it. On appeal, the State oddly distances itself from the error, referring to it as belonging to the trial court, not the prosecution, and claims now the wrongful admission of the evidence was only "partially prejudicial." State Response at 26.

In *Grower* the admission of the evidence was also harmful as it went to the main issue in the case, the alleged victim's credibility. *Id.* at 858. Intent was at issue in all of the counts charged against the petitioner and Mr. Hitt's purpose in all his actions that evening was the chiefly

⁸ "[W]e are here to have a fair trial for both sides. And having the State try this case with one hand tied behind its back because the jury won't hear this very probative evidence to rebut Mr. Hitt's assertion." RP 282.

contested issue. But, the trial court's instructions wrongly gave the jurors permission to use the prior rape as evidence that the State proved intent, which is why prejudice exists as in *Gresham*. *See also Saltarelli* at 366. ("Because the evidence did not satisfy the test of relevance to intent, balancing probativeness against potential for prejudice was an empty gesture.")

The Court of Appeals' attempt to assess the prejudice caused by the State's action does not give adequate consideration to exactly what the jury was exposed to. The evidence about the prior crime was made central to the case in the most vivid terms when the prosecutor called JSN to testify. JSN had nothing admissible and relevant to say about the instant case and should have never set foot in the courtroom. The horrifying facts of her victimization weigh heavily in favor of concluding that the jurors were prejudiced against Mr. Hitt by her testimony. JSN's in-court recitation of what happened a decade earlier revealed, inter alia, that Mr. Hitt may have intentionally lured her into a trap, that he threatened her with a kitchen knife to keep her from fleeing, and that he raped her while a pornographic video played in the background. The prosecution did not just ask JSN to say what Mr. Hitt did; the prosecution had JSN demonstrate how he kept the knife pointed at her neck. RP 1186. The prosecutor had her tell the jury that Mr. Hitt ejaculated. RP 1194.

The punishment Mr. Hitt received for the rape of JSN was well-deserved and would qualify as a predicate offense for a Sexually Violent Predator civil commitment filing under RCW 71.09. The jurors would have naturally felt contempt, hatred, and disgust toward the petitioner.

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