. . ......... ··- .... J . --. __ .. __ -··' 

RECENED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
Feb 20, 2015, 3:21 pm 

BY RONALD R. CARPENTER 
CLERK 

SUPREME COURT NO. 91279-3 G ~ F" 
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 70291-2>-::::--:t-1 --::R::=::E:-::c=EI~V=ED~BY...,t5~:F_~MA...,..,I.,-L --

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

ROBERT HITT, 

Petitioner. 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG 
King County Prosecuting Attorney 

DENNIS J. McCURDY 
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 

Attorneys for Respondent 

King County Prosecuting Attorney 
W554 King County Courthouse 

516 3rd Avenue 
Seattle, Washington 98104 

(206) 296-9650

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The Respondent, the State of Washington, asks this Court to 

deny the defendant's petition for review because a full and accurate 

review of the facts and the law shows that this case does not meet 

the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). 

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The unpublished Court of Appeals decision is at State v. Hitt, 

2014 WL 7339602 (Wn. App. Div. 1, Dec. 22, 2014) (attached). 

C. BRIEF SUMMARY OF FACTS 

In determining whether to accept review, it is imperative that 

this Court's determination be based on an accurate and complete 

recitation of the facts. The State believes a more accurate and 

complete recitation of the facts and law is as set out below. 

1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

The defendant broke into a residential home near the 

University of Washington, corralled at knifepoint six UW women 

students who lived in the house, took two of their cell phones, and 

bound with electrical and duct tape five of the women before officers 

arrived and apprehended the defendant in the act. The defendant 

was charged with one count of First-Degree Burglary, two counts of 
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First-Degree Robbery1 and six counts of First-Degree Kidnapping, 

each with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 1-7. The burglary 

count (count I) and one count of kidnapping (count Ill) carried with it a 

"sexual motivation" special allegation pursuant to RCW 9.94A.835. 

& The defendant was convicted as charged. 

The offenses of first-degree burglary and first-degree 

kidnapping, with a jury finding of sexual motivation, each constitute a 

"most serious" offense under the Persistent Offender Accountability 

Act. RCW 9.94A.030(37)(b). With a prior first-degree rape 

conviction on his record, the defendant was found to be a persistent 

offender under the "two strikes" option of the POAA related to sex 

offenses, and a mandatory life sentence was imposed. CP 378-39; 

RCW 9.94A.030; RCW 9.94A.570. 

The defendant appealed his conviction. As pertinent here, the 

Court of Appeal accepted the State's concession that the trial court's 

ER 404(b) ruling allowing into evidence facts pertaining to the 

defendant's prior rape conviction was in error. The Court found that 

the admission of the evidence was prejudicial in regards to the jury's 

sexual motivation findings but not as to the underlying charges 

because there was overwhelming evidence of the offenses for which 

1 In the Information, the properly listed as being stolen by the defendant consisted 
of a cell phone from KB and a cell phone from MS. CP 1-7. 

- 2-
Hitt SupCt Answer 

' '· 



the defendant was charged and confessed. Thus, the case was 

remanded for resentencing as a non-persistent offender. In 

addition, in a separate claim of error, the Court of Appeals rejected 

the defendant's claim that there was insufficient evidence to support 

one of the alternative means of first-degree kidnapping as charged. 

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

In March of 2011, eight young women, all University of 

Washington students, lived in a home just north of the main campus. 

RP 393-94. The women are referred to by their initials KB, Au8, 2 

AlB, MS, LC, EC, SS and EH. 

At approximately 3:00a.m. on March 5, SS was awakened by 

the sound of someone banging on the front door. RP 605. EH and 

SS then heard something crash and break downstairs, followed by 

heavy footsteps walking across the floor. RP 493-94, 605, 608. 

When EH heard the footsteps reach the top of the stairs, she opened 

her bedroom door to see what was going on. RP 496. There stood 

the defendant, who upon seeing EH, ran directly at her. RP 498. 

As EH tried to shut her door, she was knocked to the ground. 

RP 499. When EH demanded to know what the defendant was doing 

in her house, he said that he was there to rob her. RP 500. He then 

2 Two of the women share the initials AB. To distinguish the two, the second letter 
of their first name is also used (AuB and AlB). 
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asked EH how many people were in the house, and after EH 

responded, "eight," he proceeded to bind EH's wrists behind her back 

with electrical tape. RP 500-01. He then placed a serrated kitchen 

knife, with a 3 Y2 inch blade, to EH's neck and forced her from room 

to room, corralling up the other women. RP 508-09; RP 1148. 

The defendant first took EH to AuB's bedroom door where he 

threatened to kill EH if AuB did not come out of her room. RP 510-

13, 523, 821-23. Next, he did the same thing at KB's bedroom door. 

RP 511-14, 922-24. Saying that he would slit EH's throat, the 

defendant also demanded that KB hand over her cell phone, which 

she did. RP 514, 522, 924. Next, the defendant took EH at 

knifepoint to SS's bedroom where he similarly threatened to kill EH 

unless SS came out of her bedroom. RP 525-26, 611-17. 

Once the defendant had corralled all the women from upstairs 

(AuB, KB, SS and EH), he ordered them into KB's bedroom and told 

them to stay put. RP 526-27. He then took EH at knifepoint and 

proceeded to corral the women from downstairs. RP 527-28. 

First, the defendant took EH toMS's bedroom. RP 530-31, 

691-93. MS was on her bed with her phone trying to call 911. 

RP 527-28. MS was ordered out of her room and her phone was 

taken by the defendant. RP 527-28, 693. This was followed by the 
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defendant taking EH to LC's bedroom, where he again threatened to 

kill EH if LC did not comply. RP 533-34, 1109-10. The three women 

were then taken upstairs to KB's bedroom.3 RP 534. 

Once the defendant had herded all the women into KB's 

bedroom, he ordered them to lay face dow~ on the floor. RP 536. 

He then began to bind the women's wrists behind their back with 

electrical tape; including EH's wrists, as she had been able to free 

her wrists from when the defendant first bound them. RP 501, 528, 

537-40. The defendant repeatedly told the women that he was going 

to rob them. RP 398, 513, 609, 623, 924. He also repeatedly 

threatened to kill them and said that if someone had called the police 

it would be a "hostage situation" and that they were all going to die. 

RP 542-44, 623. 

After binding the wrists of four of the young women, the 

defendant started on KB. RP 557. KB was wearing what was 

described as a bulky polar fleece onesie. RP 562, 594, 941. As he 

struggled to bind her wrists, the defendant told her to take her 

"sweater" off. RP 562-63. KB and the other women protested 

3 The defendant did not discover the two other roommates, EC or AlB. RP 619. 
Both were awakened by the commotion, EC to the sounds of someone yelling 
"robbery," "I have a knife" and "I'm going to stab you"; AuB to the sounds of her 
roommates' screams and a male voice yelling "open the fucking door." RP 397-98, 
790-93. Both women called 911 and waited in their bedrooms until the police 
arrived. RP 398, 404, 793-94, 796. 
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because KB was not wearing anything underneath the onesie, but 

the defendant demanded that she take it off. RP 563, 652-53, 

941-42. KB then unzipped the onesie and took her arms out. RP 

564. Her wrists were then bound like the others. RP 565, 840.4 

As the defendant turned his attention to the last girl, SS, he 

heard a noise and moved towards the door- it was the police. RP 

566-67, 655. When officers entered the residence, they heard 

hysterical screams coming from upstairs. RP 427. The officers 

looked up to see the defendant standing just outside KB's bedroom 

door. RP 426. The defendant made eye contact with the uniformed 

officers, retreated back into the bedroom and slammed the door 

behind him-- despite orders for him to stop. RP 426, 1082-84. Just 

as the officers were about to breach the bedroom door, the defendant 

opened the door and proclaimed that he was just there to rob the 

women. RP 427-28. 

4 KB testified that she unzipped the onesie halfway, pulled her arms out and then 
got down on her stomach with the onesie still covering the lower half of her body. 
RP 942. She testified that the defendant then pulled the onesie down to her ankles 
before binding her wrists. RP 942, 945. She believed the defendant could have 
bound her wrists without removing her onesie. RP 961. 

SS testified that the defendant first pulled the onesie down to KB's 
waist but that when he got off of her, he pulled the onesie down to her ankles. 
RP 653-54, 672. MS testified that she could not see whether the defendant pulled 
KB's onesie off but that when the police came into the room, she looked over and 
saw that KB was completely naked. RP 705-06, 711-13. AuB testified that the 
defendant pulled the onesie down to KB's bottom. RP 840. EH testified that the 
onesie was pulled down to KB's waist, with the material gathered around her thighs 
and bottom. RP 565. 
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The defendant was placed under arrest. RP 429. Officers 

found the women bound and laying on the floor, with one of them 

"naked." RP 1085-86. Not mentioned in his petition, KB and MS's 

cell phones were found in the defendant's pocket, along with the 

knife he used to threaten the women. RP 430-32,717-18, 895, 961. 

Also not mentioned by the defendant is the fact that Officers 

discovered a broken window downstairs and a rock on the floor that 

the defendant had thrown through the window. RP 434, 437, 659-60. 

The defendant had cuts on his forearm from the broken glass, and 

there were fresh scuff marks on the window molding and the outside 

wall just below the window. RP 434, 765. And finally, the defendant 

fails to mention that he told the arresting officers that he took the cell 

phones from two of the women inside the house and confessed that 

he was there to rob them. RP 430, 432. The defendant's 

conversation with the arresting officer was recorded via the officer's 

lapel microphone and was played for the jury. RP 893. The 

defendant did not testify at trial. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) & (4), the provisions invoked here 

by the defendant, this Court will accept review "only ... if the decision 
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of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme 

Court; if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 

State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or ... if the 

petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court." This case meets none of these 

criteria. 

Issue One: A Harmless Error Analysis 

The first issue the defendant claims warrants Supreme Court 

review involves nothing more than the defendant's unhappiness with 

the Court of Appeals' application of a harmless error analysis to its 

404(b) ruling. 

At trial, pursuant to ER 404(b) (the rule allowing for the 

admission of prior bad acts evidence) the State sought to admit facts 

of the defendant's prior rape as evidence of a "common scheme or 

plan" supporting the sexual motivation allegations. On appeal, 

consistent with this Court's decision in State v. DeVincentis, 150 

Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003), the State conceded that the facts of 

the defendant's prior rape were not sufficiently similar to the facts of 

the current case to allow for admissibility of the evidence. The Court 

of Appeals agreed with the State's concession of error. The only 

question then before the Court was what affect did the admission of 
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the 404(b) evidence have in regards to the underlying charges and 

the sexual motivation allegations. 

On appeal, the defendant focuses on the prejudicial nature of 

the 404(b) evidence, but in this regard he misses the point. It is 

prejudicial evidence. What the defendant fails to do is address the 

overwhelming evidence that supported the underlying charges and 

the lack of overwhelming evidence that supported the sexual 

motivation allegations. The defendant fails to mention that he 

repeatedly, and on tape, confessed that he was there to rob the 

women. Along with the plethora of addition evidence stated in the 

fact section above that supported each of the underlying charges, the 

defendant also fails to mention that the knife he used to threaten the 

women, and the stolen cell phones, were found on his person. None 

of this was disputed at trial. 

Entirely consistent with this Court's many 404(b) cases, and 

other cases involving the improper admission of evidence in violation 

of the Rules of Evidence, the Court of Appeals' evaluated the 

prejudicial effect of the improperly admitted evidence. The defendant 

is simply unhappy with the Court of Appeals' evaluation of the 

evidence. But the Court of Appeals' ruling does not conflict with any 

Supreme Court precedence, does not involve a question of law under 

- 9-
Hitt SupCt Answer 



the Constitution, and does not involve an issue of substantial public 

interest. Thus, this issue is not appropriate for Supreme Court 

review. 5 

Issue Two: Sufficiency of the Evidence for Kidnapping 

Next, the defendant contends that there was insufficient 

evidence of one of the alternative means of first-degree kidnapping 

as charged, specifically, that he intentionally abducted each victim 

with intent to hold the victim "as a shield or hostage." This issue also 

does not meet the criteria for Supreme Court review. 

Pursuant to this Court's decision in State v. Garcia, 179 Wn.2d 

828,318 P.3d 266 (2014), "proofoffirstdegree kidnapping under the 

hostage/shield [alternative] means [of committing first-degree 

kidnapping] requires proof that the defendant intended to use the 

victim as security for the performance of some action by another 

person or the prevention of some action by another person." !Q, 

(emphasis added). "Hostage," this Court found, commonly refers to 

someone "held as security for the performance, or forbearance, or 

some act by a third party." Garcia, 179 Wn.2d at 273. "Shield," this 

Court found, commonly refers to "the holding or detaining of a person· 

5 In addition, reviewing courts do not make credibility determinations. See State v. 
Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, rev. denied, 119 Wn.2d 1011 
(1992). 
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by force as defense or potential protection against interception, 

interference, or retaliation by law enforcement personnel." .!9..:. 

Under a sufficiency of the evidence review, evidence is 

sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in the light most 

favorable to the State, it permits a rational trier of fact to find the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Tilton, 149 Wn.2d 775, 786, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). A reviewing court 

will draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the 

State and interpret the evidence most strongly against the defendant. 

State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 

The defendant's claim is that he did not actually use the 

victims as a hostage or as a shield (with the exception of EH). The 

defendant is correct. However, what the defendant fails to recognize 

is that under the first-degree kidnapping statute, "a person who 

intentionally ad ducts another need do so only with the intent to" use 

the person as a shield or a hostage, the abductor does not need to 

actually complete the act. In re Fletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 52-53, 776 

P.2d 114 (1989) (emphasis added), accord, Garcia, 179 Wn.2d at 

273. In conjunction therewith, the defendant also fails to mention that 

in repeatedly threatening the six young women with death, he 

repeatedly told them that if the police showed up, it was going to be a 
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"hostage situation." RP 542-43, 656, 702, 944. Thus, the fact that he 

may have changed his mind or been caught unaware by the police 

and therefore he did not carry out his threat, is of no moment. There 

was sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to have found that 

when he first kidnapped the young women at knife point and bound 

their wrists, he possessed the intent to use them as a shield or as a 

hostage just as he proclaimed. 

In any event, as with issue number one, the Court'of Appeals' 

ruling does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedence, does 

not involve a substantial question of law under the Constitution, and 

does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. Thus, it is not 

an issue appropriate for Supreme Court review. 

E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons cited above, this Court should deny review.